
 

 
WHITNEY CUNNINGHAM 

WCUNNINGHAM@AWDLAW.COM 
 

 

December 15, 2017 
 
Via Email (lowell.putnam@lowell.edu)  
 
W. Lowell Putnam, President 
Lowell Observatory 
1400 W. Mars Hill Rd. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
 
RE: Proposed U.S. Forest Service Land Exchange; 

Lowell Observatory, Coconino National Forest 
 
Dear Mr. Putnam: 
 
Further to our letter dated March 29, 2017 (copy attached for your convenience), we set forth additional information 
here about the interpretation of the 1910 Congressional grant of Section 17 to Percival Lowell as a result of new 
information we have received. 
 
The original grant of land (referred to as “Section 17”) to Percival Lowell in 1910 contained the restriction that Section 
17 was to remain his (and his heirs and assigns), unless the observatory was removed, or the land was used “for other 
than observatory purposes.” The United States also retained title to the “merchantable timber thereon and the right 
to cut and remove the same in such manner as to preserve the herbage and undergrowth in their natural condition.” 
This letter provides some history and context regarding such grant of Section 17 in the form of communications 
between Lowell, the Attorney General and Secretary of Agriculture, and a report issued by the Senate Committee on 
Public Lands. 
 
On May 10, 1910, Senator Flint issued a report on behalf of the Senate Committee on Public Lands regarding the yet 
to be enacted grant of Section 17 (Report No. 670 of the 2nd Session of the 61st Congress). The report states that the 
proposed bill “provides that the land shall revert to the United States if the observatory is removed or abandoned.” 
Importantly, this report shows that the intent and interpretation of “observatory purposes” was to mean that Section 
17 would only revert back to the U.S. if the observatory was removed or abandoned, not if Section 17 was used for 
other purposes in addition to its observatory purpose. A copy of the May 10, 1910 report is attached hereto as 
Exhibit A. 
 
In 1912, after the grant of Section 17, there were substantial communications regarding the extent of the restrictions 
on Lowell’s use of Section 17. Percival Lowell sent a letter dated June 4, 1912 to United States Attorney General 
George W. Wickersham requesting clarification as to Lowell’s rights related to clearing certain trees on Section 17 for 
the purpose of erecting a fence around Section 17. The letter indicates that the local forester objected to Lowell’s plan 
to cut certain young pines. A copy of the June 4, 1912 letter is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
 
In a letter dated June 11, 1912, sent to then Secretary of Agriculture James Wilson, the Attorney General states as 
follows: 
 

I hand you a copy of a letter received by me from Prof. Percival Lowell, about which I spoke to you at 
Cabinet Meeting this morning. It strikes me that the construction of the act given in his letter, which 
would prevent the taking of fence posts for the protection of the tract while being used for 
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observatory purposes, is altogether too narrow, and sticks in the bark. The purpose of the act was, 
undoubtedly, to give to Professor Lowell substantially such rights as would be enjoyed by the owner 
of the property who devoted it to the purposes of the observatory, and, so long as he did so keep it, 
he should be free from petty interferences with him respecting the cutting of timber or the 
improvement of the property. The reservation of title to the merchantable timber, with the right to 
cut and remove it, emphasizes, of course, the intention not to interfere with anything but such 
timber as might be properly cut and sold in the market, and to permit such timber to be removed by 
the United States “in such manner as to preserve the herbiage and undergrowth in their natural 
condition.” May I ask if you will not give such instructions as will relieve Professor Lowell of the 
interferences of which he complaints.” 

 
A copy of the June 11, 1912 letter is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
 
The Secretary of Agriculture sent a response letter dated June 19, 1912 to the Attorney General, in which the 
Secretary acknowledges receipt of the June 11 letter and states in material part: “in view of your opinion as to the 
extent of the rights granted to Prof. Lowell by the Act in question, I have been glad to instruct the Forester that any 
restrictions upon the use of any of the material on this land by Prof. Lowell which he desires be removed. This action 
has been taken.” A copy of the June 19, 1912 letter is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 
 
It is clear from these communications that the grant of Section 17 to Lowell was intended to permit Lowell to have 
broad discretion over the use of Section 17. As the Attorney General’s letter states, as long as the observatory 
remains, Lowell should be able to make improvements to the property as he sees fit. This intention, unfortunately, 
was not as clearly stated in the wording of the grant, as shown by the fact that Lowell had to receive clarification from 
the Attorney General at the time. Additionally, the merchantable timber right is a very limited one, as demonstrated 
by the restricting purpose “to preserve the herbiage and undergrowth in their natural condition.”  
 
It is clear that the intention, as shown in these cited communications, was to grant unfettered rights to Lowell, 
provided that the observatory remains active on Section 17. The observatory has been in operation for over 100 years, 
and there is no risk of it disappearing anytime soon. However, for as long as the restrictions placed on the grant of 
Section 17 remain, Lowell will have to second-guess every improvement it makes on Section 17 for fear of upsetting 
whatever administration is currently in place. By proactively addressing this issue and transferring full title to Lowell 
now, it will head-off any future conflicts. Action should be taken to ensure that original goal of the grant is 
recognized. The exchange proposed in our July 28, 2017 letter will accomplish such a goal. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
ASPEY, WATKINS & DIESEL PLLC 
 
 
 
Whitney Cunningham 
WC/mg 
C: Jeffrey Hall, Ph.D., Director 
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Dear Jeff,

Thank you for the information regarding Lowell’s plans for development 
of its campus, as well as for Section 17 just west of the campus.

As you well know as a member of NALA yourself, our organization is 
fully supportive of projects that enhance the economic vitality of 
Flagstaff and the surrounding region.  We are pleased that the strong 
attendance at Lowell’s outreach programs has grown your program into 
one of Flagstaff’s largest tourist attractions, but we also appreciate the 
capacity problems this has created, both in your visitor center and on 
Mars Hill Road.  Your plan to create a destination-level visitor center is 
exciting and entirely in line with our vision for Flagstaff.

At the same time, the potential for development of the one-square-mile 
Section 17 represents a unique opportunity for our community. The 
combination of research facilities and high-tech assets that might be 
located there could be an enormous boon for Flagstaff, as well as a 
model for communities around the state and the nation to emulate.  

NALA is pleased to provide its endorsement of your long-range plan, 
and we support your efforts to secure full latitude to develop Section 17 
in this exciting and visionary manner.  Assuming you can soon move 
ahead, NALA would look forward to working with you and the 
community to realize the best possible vision for this unique space.

Sincerely,

T Paul Thomas, CEO



 

 

 

December 1, 2017 

RE: Letter of Support – Section 17 

Dear Jeff, 

Lowell Observatory is a shining star in Flagstaff’s STEM community and it is exciting to hear of your 

expansion plans and the potential for development of the square mile of land that comprises Section 17 

west of your campus.  

An expanded Lowell Observatory campus and newly developed infrastructure to support “America’s 

First STEM City” would bring invaluable assets to our community.  Currently, Lowell’s community 

outreach programs engage, enlighten and excite our citizens and the multitude of international visitors 

who visit our community.  It is easy to imagine the exponential impact additional assets could have on 

the ability to expand the scope and impact of Lowell Observatory’s outreach efforts and the efforts of 

our entire STEM community. Properly and thoughtfully done, it could be a major enhancement to our 

community’s reputation as a hub for science and technological advancement.  

STEM City works with community partners to strengthen STEM literacy, promote STEM organizations 

and sustain STEM initiatives.   Core to our mission is a focus on efforts that bring additional assets to our 

community, allowing our community to grow and thrive. STEM City would be delighted to be part of the 

community conversation that leads to a vision and implementation of new STEM assets.  Especially 

exciting is the idea of engaging our K-12 community partners in the development of new and unique 

student learning opportunities made available through the development of Section 17.  

We endorse your efforts to secure full use of the Section and look forward to future discussions that 

turn this vision into reality.  

Sincerely, 

 

Brigid Dineen 

Executive Director 

STEM City  
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